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We are,
Where you are.

We believe that by cultivating a company environment 
which fosters employee development,  growth, innovation, 
excellence and exemplary customer service, only then 
can we be the leading communications company in the 
region, operating at global standards.

At Guardian Media we strive to be the most comprehensive 
multimedia company in the caribbean with a presence in 
television, print, radio, electronic billboards and digital 
media. We aim to provide state of the art facilities for both 
in-house and commercial productions. Our company has 
operational centres in Port of Spain, Chaguanas and San 
Fernando. As well as a radio station in Georgetown, Guyana.

OUR MISSION

OUR VISION

CONNECTING PEOPLE WITH 
BRANDS AND CONTENT YOU 
LOVE AND TRUST

TO BE THE HOME OF THE 
LEADING C A R I B B E A N 
MEDIA BRANDS
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CNC3 is one of the mainstream national broadcasters, 
operating on channels 12, 14 and 22.

The station has become a prime-time market leader, providing 
a mix of local and foreign shows.

The station has also been expanding its local content portfolio 
as a key market differentiator, bringing a mix of in-house and 
independent productions from various genres.

We are the Guardian of the People

The T&T Guardian is committed to providing credible, accurate, 
unbiased and relevant news and features to its readers.

We intend to deliver the most progressive daily newspaper in Trinidad 
and Tobago by utilizing new technologies as we venture into a new 
and exciting era of journalism.
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GM Labs is the ultimate solution to eliminate the hassle of scouting for 
multiple locations, and engaging multiple providers for any production 
equipment/media needs.

We provide the facilities that bring your concepts to life.

The best adult 
contemporary station of 

choice in T&T

The most progressive 
radio station in 
the youth urban 

demographic

On the pulse of the East 
Indian community with a 
blend of Bollywood and 
local music and culture.

Guyana’s widest reaching 
and only contemporary 

music station

An urban gospel station, 
disrupting the inspirational 

market

The nation’s station.
The most recognized 

adult urban radio 
station

Talk that matters! 
Amplifying the voices of 
those creating a positive 

impact in T&T

GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES6 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 7



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PETER CLARKE
CHAIRMAN

CONRAD SABGA
DIRECTOR

JEREMY MATOUK
DIRECTOR

SHARON CHRISTOPHER
DIRECTOR

JENIFER SMITH
DIRECTOR

PROFESSOR ROSE-MARIE ANTOINE
DIRECTOR

SONJA GITTENS-OTTLEY
DIRECTOR

GERHARD PETTIER
MANAGING DIRECTOR (Ag.)

DAVAN MAHARAJ
DIRECTOR

CANDICE CHANGOOR
CFO (Ag.)/COMPANY SECRETARY

GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES8 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 9



GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES10 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 11

CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT
PETER CLARKE

Against the backdrop of shrinking advertising 
budgets and digital market disruptions, 
management has worked diligently during 
the year to navigate the changing media 
environment through improved sales and 
service capabilities, redoubled editorial 
relevance and appeal, increased audience 
engagement, development of content 
and productions and delivery of efficiency 
improvements within the organisation.

For the year ended 31st December 2023, 
Guardian Media Limited reported a loss before 
tax of $10.6M compared to a profit before tax 
of $3.8M in the prior year. Revenues reported 
for the year ending 31st December 2023, 
were $99.3M compared to $117.7M in 2022, as 
2022 included revenue from World Cup sales.

The multi-media revenues and profitability 
were negatively impacted by the lower-than-
expected commercial interest in the English 
Premier League [EPL] campaign and the 
associated costs of these rights. There was an 
increase in fixed operating costs over the prior 
year while all other controllable expenses 
were tightly managed. Notwithstanding these 
results, our statement of financial position 
metrics remain robust.

As we continue to pursue our strategic 
imperatives, the Company made significant 
strides during the year, and I remain confident 
about the Company’s future. Significant work 
was done to reconfigure our commercial 
approach to capitalize on all opportunities in 
the market. We invested in the improvement 
of our sales and service capability and have a 
new and energized salesforce. 

Our Guardian newspaper celebrated its 106th 
anniversary this year. We took the opportunity 
to meet with and celebrate our loyal readers 
“on the road”. Scores of our staff members 
including our Managing Editor, journalists and 
announcers took to the roads to participate 
in this celebration and community outreach. 
We successfully collaborated with businesses 
and residents of communities which 
positively impacted our brand and generated 
engagement with our readers.

We maintained our leadership position in 
local news across all social media platforms 
and our flagship website.  

As the Guardian of the people, we also 
remained best in class for our investigative 
reporting and news delivery across print, 
broadcast, and digital platforms.

Another positive contribution came from our 
local productions which showcased the rich 
talent, culture and diversity of Trinidad and 
Tobago, across all demographic groups. Our 
focus as we move forward continues to be our 
relationships with our clients and audiences.

We recognize the importance of maintaining 
a responsible and ethical approach to 
our operations and to ensuring that our 
activities positively impact society and the 
environment. 

Based on the overall performance of 
the company, your directors have not 
recommended an ordinary dividend payment 
in respect of the twelve months ended 31st 
December 2023. 6% preference shareholders 
will receive a final dividend of 3%. The Board 
and the management team remain committed 
to creating value for shareholders and we are 
confident that by executing our strategies, 
delivering efficiencies, and investing carefully, 
dividend payments will resume once the 
Company returns to profitability.

Dr. Karrian Hepburn Malcolm stepped down as 
Managing Director effective 30th November 
2023 to return to her homeland of Jamaica. 
On behalf of the Board of Directors we wish 
to express our sincere gratitude to Dr. Karrian 
Hepburn Malcolm for her contributions to 
Guardian Media Limited over the last year and 
nine months. We warmly welcome our new 
Acting Managing Director, Gerhard Pettier, 
who assumed the position on 1st December 
2023. 

I wish to acknowledge our shareholders, 
employees, partners, and customers for your 
loyal and unwavering support.

Peter Clarke 
Chairman
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The revenue construct of the media industry 
continues to transform and re-define itself. 
While traditional media channels are still 
hugely relevant, commercial spend on these 
platforms is dwindling with the growing 
popularity of digital media.

This change is evidenced by the exponential 
growth experienced in 2023 on our own 
Guardian Media online platforms, including 
our flagship website which currently 
commands over four million page views 
per month. Engagement is also high on our 
Facebook, Instagram and X (formerly Twitter) 
platforms where we currently have over 2.7 
million followers, as well as on our Guardian 
Media and CNC3 Apps, for which there have 
been more than 257,500 downloads. 

The challenge however is monetization. 
Commanding the largest social media 
following amongst all local media houses, has 
reinforced our position as market leaders and 
the foremost source of credible, irresistible 
and factual content. Our forward strategy 
requires us to harness the strengths and 
enduring legacy of our Guardian newspaper, 
CNC3 Television station and our seven radio 
stations to propel us into a future which is 
digital. This is the crux of our ‘2X’ strategy 
which fuses traditional and digital media to 
produce the absolute best experiences and 
opportunities for advertisers and audiences 
alike.

We have on-boarded the lessons we learned 
and the feedback which we received from our 
trusted stakeholders with appreciation during 
2023. This has informed our 2024 commercial 
structure and other business priorities. 
Expenditure management and control, talent 
density and customer satisfaction are key to 
our success, as we continue to dream big, 
and re-imagine our business with our loyal 
and valued stakeholders in mind.

I am grateful for the unconditional support of 
our investors, our Board, the leadership team 
and all employees, customers, consumers, 
readers and audiences.

As we continue to innovate and adapt to 
the realities of this dynamic industry, we 
commit to resilience, excellence, integrity and 
accountability as the Guardians of the People.

Gerhard Pettier 
Managing Director (Ag.)

MANAGING 
DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT
GERHARD PETTIER
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SUSTAINABILITY 
AND PHILANTHROPY 
REPORT
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ENVIRONMENT

Keeping a clean scene

Guardian Media also got involved in the environmental action and hosted its own beach clean-up 
entitled Life’s a Beach, Keep it Clean in September 2023. The Guardian newspaper, Sangeet 106.1FM 
and VibeCT 105.1FM arranged for the team of volunteers to clean up Manzanilla Beach in Trinidad and 
then relax with some games and other fun activities, including live tassa entertainment. Six companies 
and 80 individuals participated including Guardian Media staff. Over 30 bags of garbage were collected 
for disposal.

Pollution Reduction
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILTY

Safe Working Environment: HSE Week

Guardian Media also hosted an HSE Week in October 2023. The Northwest Regional Health Authority 
was engaged to host a health fair at GM Technologies which included HIV testing and general health 
screenings such as testing blood pressure, blood glucose, cholesterol, BMI measurements and nutritional 
counselling. On the final day an HSE exhibition was held. Various service providers and vendors were 
invited to display, engage and inform staff about their products and services including Digicel (Home 
Security Systems), TATIL and TATIL Life, the Trinidad and Tobago Cancer Society, AMCO, Standard 
Distributors and Value Optical. Participants also had the chance to win prizes at a booth managed by 
GML’s marketing and HR departments.

Employee, customer and consumer well-being

GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES18
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Education
Educating the Public about Sustainability

The media has a significant opportunity and an important role in educating the public about the 
meaning and importance of sustainability and sustainability issues. 

From April to May 2023, the Guardian newspaper featured a series of articles by Rachel Welch-Phillips, 
Head of ESG and Sustainable Finance and Partner at Dentons Delany. Topics included Understanding 
ESG Reporting, ESG Strategy Development and Target-setting, What Gets Measured gets Managed, 
Establishing a Baseline, What Matters and Why, Identifying Material ESG Issues, and Demystifying ESG 
for Organisations - What it is and is Not. 

Staying on top of Climate Change

Climate change is  arguably the biggest global obstacle to achieving a sustainable future. Every year, 
the Conference of the Parties (COP) meets to discuss this ongoing global challenge, the Climate 
Change Convention and negotiate mitigation and adaptation measures and responsible parties. The 
ANSA McAL Group of Companies was the proud sponsor of Guardian Media’s in-person coverage 
of COP28 in Dubai in 2023 from November 30 to December 12. Guardian Media had two journalists 
present to cover the events: Kalain Hosein and Ryan Bachoo, both from Trinidad and Tobago. 

Ryan Bachoo was sponsored by the ANSA McAL Group to cover the event and without a doubt he 
delivered with purpose and passion. With 28 TV broadcast pieces, 13 print stories, 5 radio appearances 
and social media videos, his coverage reached every possible audience, from the morning programme 
to prime time. Ryan’s “What you missed while you slept” articles gave succinct reports which allowed 
readers to easily keep up to date on the most salient points. In a visit Ryan paid to the ANSA McAL Head 
Office in December, he shared what his experience was like, and how proud he was to stand beside 
well-known journalists from major international media houses to represent the Caribbean region and 
ensure that his audience’s interests were covered effectively. For the Caribbean islands, where we are 
particularly vulnerable to the effects of climate change, representation truly matters.

Guardian Media’s weather anchor, Kalain Hosein, was also present at COP28 to cover the event, 
thanks to his award of a Climate Tracker’s COP28 Climate Justice Journalism Fellowship. Amidst fierce 
competition, he stood out for his passion, dedication and innovative storytelling. Kalain is an award-
winning journalist. He garnered five awards at the Caribbean Broadcasting Union’s 2022 Caribbean 
Media Awards held in Antigua and Barbuda in August 2023. Four of the theme awards were for climate 
change and disaster risk reduction reporting:

Best Climate Change Documentary (Television) – “COP 27 – No Action, No Future: Climate Change in 
Trinidad and Tobago”
Best Climate Change News Item (Digital) – “US$150M Funding for green energy projects coming to 
Caribbean”
Coverage of Disaster Risk Reduction (Digital) – “UN Spending $3.1B To Fix Early Warning Issue”
Best Climate Change News Item (Print) – “Antigua & Barbuda Moving into the Blue Economy”
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Social wellbeing

Making waves of change via Talk Radio 

In March 2023, Guardian Media hosted the official launch for Freedom 106.5 FM at GM Studios, Guardian 
Media Building in Port of Spain. GML committed to starting a conversation with a purpose, focused on 
information, opinions, and education, all aimed at creating a better tomorrow. This objective inspired 
the launch of Freedom 106.5 FM, the newest talk station on the market. While the station discusses 
burning issues, trending topics and current events, its true value is its focus on social responsibility 
and delivering credible information to audiences to encourage informed decision-making. The station 
has formed partnerships with industry leaders and experts in the fields of Business, Sport, Innovation, 
Agriculture, Inclusivity, Climate Change and Gender-Based Violence. Some of the weekly programmes 
included:

 • Diabetes and You, with Andrew Dhanoo, President of the Diabetes Association of Trinidad and 
Tobago

 • Agri-Business Innovation, with Jody White, award-winning Caribbean Entrepreneur in the field of 
Agri Business and Entrepreneurship

 • Safety Mondays, with Jude Rogers of the Trinidad and Tobago Fire Service

In 2024, Freedom 106.5FM will be introducing a weekly radio show focused on climate change, with 
additional content centred around food security and sustainability. 

In October 2023, Natalie Bibby, the Group Corporate Sustainability Specialist, was invited  as a guest 
to Freedom 106.5 FM’s talk show ”Human Impact” hosted by Carrie V. Sian Cuffy-Young, Waste 
Management Educator and Consultant, was also a guest. The topic was “Recycling in Trinidad and 
Tobago”. It was an excellent opportunity to encourage positive behaviours by sharing advice about the 
importance of recycling and how and where to recycle locally. Natalie took the opportunity to remind 
listeners of the long and well-established glass recycling initiative at Carib Glassworks, and CARIB 
Brewery’s returnable packaging system that allows for reusing packaging, which is even better than 
recycling.

As we continue to develop our new strategies and initiatives, the Guardian Neediest Cases Fund 
continued to be ‘A Friend in Need’ to many families throughout Trinidad and Tobago in 2023.  The Fund 
helped four hundred and eighty-three (483) needy persons/families with one hundred and ninety-
seven thousand, seven hundred and twenty-six dollars and ninety-one cents ($197,726.91).

The Fund’s annual Christmas Grants were given to four hundred and thirty-two (432) recipients whilst 
other persons/families benefitted from other financial and medical assistance. We also increased the 
number of book grants.  Twenty-nine (29) school children benefitted from this initiative, and sums to 
the total value of seventeen thousand, one hundred and ninety dollars ($17,190.00) were disbursed. 
The children were from primary, secondary and technical vocational schools, and the grants were with 
respect to textbook purchases.

Guardian Neediest Cases Fund continued with its 2nd Annual Children’s Christmas Party which was 
held at the Sangre Grande SDMS Primary School ground. Fifty-three (53) underprivileged children from 
the community had a fun filled day with games, eats and toys whilst thirty-five (35) families received 
food hampers.

It is hoped that in 2024 the Guardian Neediest Cases Fund will continue to do as much as it can to be 
A Friend in Need to the neediest persons/families amongst us.  

The Board of trustees extends a heartfelt ‘Thank You’ to all organizations and individuals who assisted 
us in achieving our goals in 2023 and we look forward to even greater collaboration in the future.

The Couva South Government School in collaboration with the Primary Guidance Personnel of the 
Student Support Services Division, Caroni District, under the Ministry of Education’s Career Guidance 
Mandate, hosted a Career Fair on Thursday 16th November 2023 at the school’s compound, Lisas 
Boulevard, Couva.

News Anchor Ryan Bachoo along with Events Manager Kristy Ramnarine and Communications Specialist 
Michael Ramsingh participated in the career demonstration.

Students ranging from Infant 1 to Standard Five were able to get first hand knowledge from the media 
professionals who have all worked in the newsroom and they were educated about the various jobs 
and roles in the media industry.

Guardian Media participates in Career Fair
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Mix 90.1 FM’s coverage of the PinkTober 2023 Walk/Run for a cause in Guyana.

Sangeet 106.1 FM’s Caura Fest held on Monday 10 July 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BOARD GOVERNANCE

BOARD STRUCTURE

Duties of the Board of Directors
The Board’s role is to oversee the Company’s Management and to ensure the long-term value of the 
Company for its shareholders.  The Board recognizes that the long-term interests of shareholders is 
served by taking into account the interests of all stakeholders starting with our employees, customers, 
suppliers and the communities in which the Company operates. The Board, in addition to its legal 
requirements, is governed by its Charter which outlines the duties and responsibilities of the individual 
Directors and of the Board as a whole.  The Board has two (2) sub-committees: 1) The Audit Committee; 
and 2) The Editorial Committee.

BOARD

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

EDITORIAL
COMMITTEE

Board Independence and Diversity
One of the key factors in the governance structure is an independent Board of Directors. Our 
Board is committed to a strong director succession planning process, designed to provide for a 
highly independent, well-qualified Board, with the diversity, experience and background to be 
effective and to provide strong oversight.  As at 31st December, 2023, the Board comprised nine 
(9) directors, eight (8) of whom are independent, as follows: 

1. Mr. Peter Clarke – Chairman, Non-Executive
2. Mr. Conrad Sabga – Non-Executive
3. Mr. Jeremy Matouk – Non-Executive
4. Ms. Sharon Christopher – Non-Executive
5. Ms. Jenifer Smith – Non-Executive
6. Mrs. Sonja Gittens-Ottley – Non-Executive
7. Mr. Davan Maharaj – Non-Executive
8. Professor Rose-Marie Antoine – Non-Executive
9. Mr. Gerhard Pettier – Ag. Managing Director, Executive

In 2023, the Board held (8) meetings in total (5 regular and 3 special).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

EDITORIAL COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities 
for the Financial Reporting process, the System of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting, the 
Audit process, and the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with Laws and Regulations. 
This Committee is charged with overseeing Management’s enterprise risk policies, procedures and 
discussing the Group’s key risk exposures.  The Audit Committee met four (4) times in 2023.

The Audit Committee is comprised of three (3) independent Non-Executive Directors.

Members:
Mr. Jeremy Matouk (Chairman)
Mr. Peter Clarke
Ms. Sharon Christopher 

The Editorial Committee is a sub-committee of the Board and acts as the oversight body for Guardian 
Media’s senior editorial leaders who determine coverage priorities and professional standards. The 
Committee will work with the senior editors to encourage engagement and openness between the 
public and the newsroom while preserving GML’s editorial independence.  
 
The Committee is responsible for providing advice and support to help the newsroom fulfill its mission 
to publish accurate, impartial, and balanced coverage that adheres to universally-accepted codes of 
journalistic ethics. Producing high-quality daily journalism on all platforms will ensure that Guardian 
Media stays relevant and on the cutting edge while achieving its promise to make the Trinidad and 
Tobago society stronger and more informed. 
 
The Editorial Committee met seven (7) times in 2023. As at 31st December 2023, the members of the 
Editorial Committee were the following independent Non-Executive Directors:
 
Members:
Mr. Davan Maharaj – (Chairman)
Ms. Jenifer Smith 
Mrs. Sonja Gittens-Ottley 
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MEETING ATTENDANCE RECORD

Member Board of 
Directors 
Meetings

Audit Committee 
Meetings

Editorial 
Committee
Meetings

Mr. Peter Clarke 7/8 4/4 Not a member

Mr. Conrad Sabga 8/8 Not a member Not a member

Mr. Jeremy Matouk 8/8 3/4 Not a member

Ms. Sharon Christopher 8/8 4/4 Not a member

Ms. Jenifer Smith 7/8 Not a member 7/7

Mrs. Sonja Gittens-Ottley 5/8 Not a member 5/7

Mr. Davan Maharaj  8/8 Not a member 7/7

Prof. Rose-Marie Antoine 7/8 Not a member Not a member

Board Tenure and Evaluation
Every year one-third of the directors shall retire from office and may offer themselves for re-election 
subject to their annual evaluation.

Director Orientation and Development
Upon joining the Board, new Directors participate in the Director’s Orientation programme, which 
provides them with a formal introduction to the Company and its operations through meetings with 
key persons, provision of relevant documentation, and training.  
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MR. PETER CLARKE, Financial Consultant, was appointed as an Independent 
Director in 2011 and serves as Chairman of Guardian Media Limited and a 
board member of a number of other companies in Trinidad and Tobago. He 
is a director of Sagicor Financial Company Limited and sits on the board 
of several other companies in the SFCL Group including Sagicor Life Inc., 
Sagicor Group Jamaica and Sagicor General Insurance.

Mr. Clarke is the holder of a Bachelor of Arts degree in History from Yale 
University and a law degree from Downing College, Cambridge University. 
He was called to the Bar as a member of Gray’s Inn in London in 1979 and 
to the Bar of Trinidad and Tobago in 1980.

He is the former Chief Executive Officer of West Indies Stockbrokers Limited 
in Trinidad and is currently on the Board of The Trinidad and Tobago Stock 
Exchange where he served as Chairman from 1995 to 1999 and again from 
2014 to 2016.

He is a member of the Finance Council of the Roman Catholic Archdiocese 
of Port of Spain and Chairs its Investment Committee.

MR. CONRAD SABGA was appointed as an Independent Director of the 
Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2001. He graduated from the University 
of Toronto in 1974 with a B.A.Sc. Civil Engineering.

Mr. Sabga currently holds the position of CEO of the BCL Group which 
includes Beaver Construction Limited as well as EMSAB Consulting 
Engineers, both companies now in their 57th year of operation.

During his career he has been involved in the design and/or construction 
of several landmark projects in Trinidad and Tobago including: RBTT Head 
Office, Briar Place; La Fontaine/La Riviera High-Rise Apartments; Movie 
Towne; Spanish Court; Marriott Courtyard; BHP Billiton Building; West 
Mall Extension; Crews Inn Plaza and Hotel; Coast Guard Headquarters; 
Canadian High Commission; International School of Port of Spain; Express 
House; Republic Bank Promenade Centre; Ellerslie Plaza; Lowlands Mall 
Tobago; ANSA Office Building, Sweet Briar Road; Gulf City Mall Extension; 
Price Plaza; PriceSmart and many others.

He was the former Chairman of the Trinidad and Tobago Development 
Foundation (FUNDAID).  He is a Fellow of the Association of Professional 
Engineers of Trinidad & Tobago.

His interests include music, chess, reading and spending time with his family.

PETER CLARKE
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

CONRAD SABGA
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Board of        Directors
MR. JEREMY MATOUK was appointed as an Independent Director of the 
Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2016.  He also serves as Chairman 
of the Audit Committee.  He attended St. Mary’s College in Port of Spain 
and Clifton College in Bristol.  He received his BA with Honours in English 
from the University of Pennsylvania and his MBA from George Washington 
University.  He has been employed for the last 41 years in the Matouk Group 
of Companies and holds the position of Group Managing Director.

He is the founder and owner of CRU Fine Wine Merchants, Trinidad and 
Tobago’s first on-line wine store.

He has served on several Government advisory committees over the years 
in Agriculture, Finance, Trade and Industry.  He was a former member of 
the Board of First Citizens Bank at its inception and is currently a director 
of ANSA Merchant Bank Limited, Guardian Media Limited and the Pointe-
a-Pierre Wildfowl Trust.  

He has been a member of the POS Rotary Club since 1986 and has served 
the club in many capacities in their charitable and social work.

He is an avid golfer and snooker player.

MS. SHARON CHRISTOPHER was appointed as an Independent Director of 
the Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2017.  She is an Attorney at Law, 
Leadership Development Coach and a Motivational Speaker. For almost 
three decades she was an Executive in a Financial Services Group within 
the Caribbean.  In the last decade of her career with the Group she was in 
the position of Deputy CEO. Ms. Christopher is a highly experienced Board 
Director having served on numerous Boards in various sectors locally, 
regionally and internationally.

Ms. Christopher is the holder of a Bachelor of Laws degree, Upper Second 
Class Honours, from the Cave Hill Campus of the University of the West 
Indies; A Legal Education Certificate from the Hugh Wooding Law 
School (from which she graduated as the Most Outstanding Student); 
and a Master of Laws degree from the London School of Economics and 
Political Science.  She is a Fellow of the Institute of Banking and Finance of 
Trinidad and Tobago.

She is the recipient of the Chaconia Gold Medal for her contribution to the 
Business, Banking and Finance sectors. 

JEREMY MATOUK
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

SHARON CHRISTOPHER
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR
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MS. JENIFER SMITH was appointed as an Independent Director of the 
Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2016. She undertook her studies in 
Architecture, Environmental Design & Urban Planning at the Bartlett School, 
University College, London from 1979 to 1985.  Full professional registration 
was achieved in 1987 in the UK, 1991 in France and 2002 in Trinidad and 
Tobago. 

Ms. Smith worked on the public concourse extension of the iconic Sydney 
Opera House in Sydney, Australia before joining Armstrong Associates in 
London in 1986. She became a partner in 1990. The work won numerous 
awards for design excellence, including the Japanese Cultural Centre, 
‘La Maison de la Culture du Japon’ located in Paris which won the RIBA 
‘European Award’ in 1998.

In 2001, She returned home to Trinidad with over 15 years of international 
experience to set up Jenifer Smith Architects Ltd. The practice’s work 
includes the design and implementation of civic, commercial, educational 
and residential buildings and masterplans, which have won various design 
awards. In recent years she established Smith+Wilson Architects, and is 
ever more focused on issues relating to creating a more sustainably built 
environment.

She has taken an active role in civic society, serving over 10 years on 
the Executive of the Trinidad and Tobago Institute of Architects (TTIA) in 
various roles including Treasurer and President. She was Chair of the TTIA 
Diary Committee from 2003-2014. She currently serves on the BOATT/TTIA 
Education Committee and TTIA Contracts Committee. She is a member of 
the Trinidad and Tobago Green Building Council and the National Trust 
of Trinidad and Tobago. She served as an International Judge for the 
Commonwealth Association of Architects Design Awards in 2022 and has 
been appointed as External Examiner (2024 to 2027) for Caribbean School 
of Architecture at the University of Technology in Jamaica.

JENIFER SMITH
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Board of        Directors
MRS. SONJA GITTENS-OTTLEY was appointed as an Independent Director 
of the Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2016. She is Head of Diversity, 
Inclusion and Belonging at Asana, a leading work management platform 
for organizations, headquartered in San Francisco, California. She is 
responsible for crafting and directing Asana’s inclusion and belonging 
strategy, creating an environment that allows everyone to thrive. Prior to 
her roles in diversity and inclusion at Asana and at Facebook, she was 
global policy counsel for Yahoo’s Business and Human Rights Program.

Before switching to technology, Mrs Gittens-Ottley was an attorney-at-
law at the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago where she focused on 
banking, financial compliance, and corporate governance issues, and at 
the Office of the Attorney General and Ministry of Legal Affairs of Trinidad 
and Tobago, where she developed and implemented comparative legal 
research programs. She started her legal career with Guardian Life of the 
Caribbean Limited. 

She is a graduate of the University of the West Indies and The Hugh 
Wooding Law School.

MR. DAVAN MAHARAJ was appointed as an Independent Director of the 
Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2017.  He is an internationally-renowned 
journalist who served as Editor-In-Chief and publisher of the Los Angeles 
Times.  Under his leadership, The Times won five Pulitzer Prizes, including 
the prestigious gold medal for public service. As publisher, he oversaw 
a company with more than US$400 million in revenue. Maharaj began 
his journalism career in Trinidad and Tobago, where he won Caribbean 
Journalist of The Year prize and top awards for investigative journalism.  
At The Times, Maharaj won numerous awards for his investigation of 
a Southern California probate lawyer who wrote wills and trusts that 
bequeathed to himself millions of dollars of his clients’ property. The story 
resulted in changes in California’s probate laws. His series, Living On Pennies, 
published during his tenure as the paper’s Nairobi bureau chief, won the 
Ernie Pyle Award for Feature Writing. As Editor-In-Chief, Maharaj and his 
team worked with an acclaimed New York digital firm to redesign latimes.
com, then one of the world’s largest responsive news websites ever built. 

Maharaj has a bachelor’s degree from the University of Tennessee, a 
master’s degree from Yale Law School, and recently was a fellow at Harvard 
University’s Kennedy School. Maharaj has an honorary doctor of letters (D. 
Litt) degree from the University of the West Indies. 

DAVAN MAHARAJ
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

SONJA GITTENS-OTTLEY
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR
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PROFESSOR ANTOINE was appointed as an Independent Director of the 
Board of Guardian Media Limited in 2023.   She is the Principal of the UWI, 
St. Augustine, and Professor of Labour Law and Offshore Financial Law. She 
holds a doctorate in law from Oxford, LLM from Cambridge and the LLB 
from the UWI. Antoine is an attorney, award winning scholar and author, 
international consultant, temporary Court of Appeal judge and activist. She 
was elected President of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, 
Washington, the only person from Trinidad and Tobago. She held OAS 
Rapporteurships for Persons of African Descent and Indigenous Peoples 
and was Head of the OAS Economic, Social and Cultural Rights Unit. She was 
CARICOM Chair on HIV, Migration and the CARICOM Regional Commission 
on Marijuana. She is the President of the Family Planning Association, a 
Cambridge Fellow, a member of Trinidad & Tobago’s Industrial Relations 
Advisory Committee, and the only Caribbean person to be an Honorary 
Fellow of the International Society for Trust Practitioners (STEP).

Professor Antoine’s remarkable contributions have earned her recognition 
by the Vice Chancellor’s Award for Excellence, for Research, and Public 
Service making her a historic two-time winner. Her impressive body of 
work also includes 15 published books and a plethora of scholarly articles. 
Further, she was recently honoured by the Network of Non-Governmental 
Organisations of Trinidad and Tobago for the Advancement of Women 
on the occasion of International Women’s Day 2024. Professor Antoine’s 
accolades also include the esteemed Inspirational Champion of Women 
Award by the International Women’s Forum T&T (IWFTT) in the year 2023. 
Additionally, she also received the coveted “Outstanding Alumnus” award 
from The UWI Cave Hill Campus in 2018 and was given the prestigious 
recognition as an Eminent Jurist-Pioneering Caribbean Woman by the 
Caribbean Court of Justice in 2021. Professor Antoine has served as a 
consultant to numerous governments, including those in the Caribbean, UK, 
Venezuela, USA, and Canada, as well as international organisations such 
as the EU, OAS, IADB, World Bank, CDB, CARICOM, UNDP, OECS, UNICEF, 
ILO, UNIFEM, CAREC, PANCAP, UNAIDS, UNDCP, and ECLAC. She has been 
instrumental in drafting legislation and producing influential policy reports 
on various issues highlighting Caribbean legal development. Governments 
and other esteemed organisations have lauded her as the foremost expert 
in Labour Law in the region, a leading authority in International Financial 
Law and HIV Law, and a transformative change agent. Professor Antoine 
is wholeheartedly committed to development within the framework of 
human rights. In her leisure time, she enjoys painting and gardening and is 
a trained classical singer.

PROFESSOR ROSE-MARIE 
ANTOINE
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Board of        Directors
MR. GERHARD PETTIER was appointed to the position of Acting Managing 
Director of Guardian Media Limited effective 1st December, 2023.

He is a Senior Finance Executive with more than 25 years of progressive 
experience in Financial and Risk management, across multiple industries 
both locally and regionally. 

Mr. Pettier has held several progressively senior roles in the ANSA McAL 
Group over the past 14 years, such as Group Internal Audit Manager, Group 
Risk Manager and the Chief Financial Officer, working across diverse  sectors 
of the Group including Manufacturing, Retail, Construction, Distribution and 
Media. He was appointed as Chief Financial Officer/Corporate Secretary 
of Guardian Media Limited in June 2021. In January 2023 he assumed 
oversight of the Traffic department, and as part of the leadership team, 
he was fully involved in charting the strategic direction and commercial 
projects of the Company.  He holds a BSc  Accounting from the UWI St 
Augustine, is a Fellow Chartered and Certified Accountant and is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Trinidad and Tobago.

GERHARD PETTIER
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Peter Clarke (Chairman)
Mr. Conrad Sabga
Mr. Jeremy Matouk 
Ms. Sharon Christopher 
Ms. Jenifer Smith
Mrs. Sonja Gittens-Ottley
Mr. Davan Maharaj 
Professor Rose-Marie Antoine 
Mr. Gerhard Pettier 

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Candice Changoor    

REGISTERED OFFICE

22-24 St. Vincent Street, 
Port-of-Spain

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Trinidad and Tobago Central Depository 
Limited
10th Floor, Nicholas Tower, 
63-65 Independence Square, 
Port-of-Spain

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young 
5-7 Sweet Briar Road, 
St. Clair, 
Port-of-Spain 

ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW

J. D. Sellier & Co.
129-131 Abercromby Street, 
Port-of-Spain

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

First Citizens Bank Limited 
44-46 Maraval Road, 
Port-of-Spain

RBC Royal Bank (Trinidad and Tobago) Limited 
55 Independence Square, 
Port-of-Spain

Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited
Scotia Centre
56–58 Richmond Street, 
Port of Spain

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Jeremy Matouk (Chairman)
Mr. Peter Clarke
Ms. Sharon Christopher

EDITORIAL COMMITTEE

Mr. Davan Maharaj (Chairman)
Ms. Jenifer Smith
Mrs. Sonja Gittens-Ottley

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Mr. Gerhard Pettier – Ag. Managing Director 
Ms. Candice Changoor – Ag. Chief Financial 
Officer/Company Secretary 
Ms. Kaymar Jordan – Managing Editor 
Mr. Gideon Edwards – Chief Engineer 
Ms. Alana Sampson – Sector Human Resources 
Manager - Media
Mr. Rennie Ramcharan  – Commercial Manager 
Print 
Mrs. Tova Satnarine-White – Commercial 
Manager Radio & GM Tech
Mr. Stephano Olliviere – Commercial Manager 
Television
Mr. Robert Dumas – Production Manager 
Mr. Colin Gouveia – Information Technology 
Manager 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Report to the Members together with the Audited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated).

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 2023
$ $

Total comprehensive loss for the year      (11,197)
Deduct:
Dividend paid:
PREFERENCE – Final 2022     - 3% 44

Interim 2023 - 3% 44

ORDINARY – Final 2022     - 4 cents per share 1,600
Interim 2023 - 0 cents per share                0       (1,688)

Loss for the year (12,885)
Retained Earnings and other reserves brought forward     228,430

Retained Earnings and other reserves at 31 December 2023     215,545

DIVIDENDS

An Interim Dividend of 3% was paid to participating Preference Shareholders and zero ($0.00) cents 
was paid to Ordinary Shareholders in November 2023. The Directors have declared Final Dividends of 
3% and zero ($0.00) cents per share to be paid to Preference and Ordinary Shareholders respectively, 
who are on the Register of Members on 17 May 2024.  Dividends will be paid on 14 June 2024.

DIRECTORS

In accordance with By-Law No. 1, paragraph 4.3.2, Mr. Peter Clarke and Mr. Jeremy Matouk retire from 
the board and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.  
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR OFFICERS’ INTERESTS

(a)  Ordinary Shares
(b)  $50.00 Preference Shares

Directors and 
Senior Officers Notes

As at
31 December 2023

As at
31 March 2024

Beneficial Non Beneficial Beneficial Non Beneficial

P. Clarke (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

C. Sabga (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

S. Gittens-Ottley (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

J. Matouk 1. (a) 30,000 – 30,000 –
(b) – – – –

J. Smith (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

S. Christopher (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

D. Maharaj (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

R.M. Antoine (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

G. Pettier (a) – – – –
(b) – – – –

NOTES:

1. Mr. J. Matouk has a beneficial interest in 30,000 ordinary shares in Guardian Media Limited.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
(continued)

AUDITORS

Fees for services provided by the independent external auditors (EY)

The IESBA Code requires communication of fee-related information for both audit and other services 
to assist those charged with governance in their assessment of independence. The fees billed by and 
payable to the independent external auditors (EY) in respect of professional services to the Group for 
the fiscal years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are set out below.

Notes:

1. For the audit of Guardian Media Limited’s annual consolidated financial statements, as well as 
other services normally provided by the principal auditor in connection with the audit together 
with other assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the 
audit or review of Guardian Media Limited’s financial statements and employee benefit plans.

2. For tax compliance and advisory services.

3. For other non-audit services.

Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to continue in office. 

        31 December
            2023               2022 

Fees billed and payable 
(TT$ thousands) Note

Audit fees (1) 415 382

Tax fees (2) – –

Other (3)        –        –

   415    382

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Candice Changoor 
Company Secretary
March 11, 2024
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DIRECTORS’, SENIOR OFFICERS’ 
AND CONNECTED PERSONS’ INTERESTS 

Name
Shareholding

as at
31 December 2023

Shareholding of
Connected Persons

as at 31 December 2023
Peter Clarke – –
Conrad Sabga – –
Sonja Gittens-Ottley – –
Jeremy Matouk 30,000 –
Jenifer Smith – –
Sharon Christopher – –
Davan Maharaj – –
Rose-Marie Antoine – –
Gerhard Pettier – –

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS 
TOP 10 SHAREHOLDERS OF 
GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED

NAME ORDINARY SHARES HELD 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

ANSA McAL Limited 20,411,671
Republic Bank Limited 3,764,007
MASA Investments Limited 2,967,433
Tatil Life Assurance Limited 1,889,619
National Insurance Board 1,656,818
Colonial Life Insurance Co. 1,158,277
Johann Rackal 886,324
ANSA McAL Foundation 715,980
Empire Investments Limited 377,874
Andrew Nicholas Sabga 303,899

NAME PREFERENCE SHARES HELD 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

TATIL Life Assurance Limited 12,053
RBTT Trust Limited – T.964C 6,536
Germaine Mouttet 1,654
Stuart Mc Gowan 1,152
Caribbean Stockbrokers 721
Colonial Life Ins. Co. (Tdad) Ltd 579
Dennis C. C. Pitt 510
Gustavus C. B. Cox 350
Stollmeyer Limited 310
Krishna Changoor 287
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Guardian Media Limited (the “Company”) wishes to advise its shareholders that the One Hundred and 
Eighth Annual Meeting of the Company will be held at the T&T North Room, Radisson Hotel Trinidad, 
Wrightson Road, Port of Spain on Tuesday May 21, 2024 at 2:00PM for the following purposes:

The meeting is being held for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and consider the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
and the report of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. To re-elect Directors.

3. To re-appoint Auditors and to authorize the Directors to fix their remuneration in respect of the 
period ending at the conclusion of the next Annual Meeting.

4. To transact any other ordinary business.

The text of the proposed resolution in relation to item 2 above is contained in the Schedule annexed 
hereto.
 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Candice Changoor 
Company Secretary

22-24 St. Vincent Street,
Port-of-Spain, 
Trinidad, W.I. 
April 19, 2024

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

NOTES:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote may appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead 
of him.  A proxy need not also be a member. 

2. No service contracts were entered into between the Company and any of its Directors.

3. A shareholder which is a body corporate may, in lieu of appointing a proxy, authorize an individual 
by resolution of its directors or its governing body to represent it at the Annual Meeting.

4. The Directors of the Company have not fixed a record date for the determination of shareholders 
who are entitled to receive notice of the Annual Meeting.  In accordance with Section 111(a)(i) of 
the Companies Act, Chap. 81:01, the statutory record date applies. Only shareholders of record 
at the close of business on Thursday April 18, 2024, the date immediately preceding the date on 
which the Notice is given, are therefore entitled to receive Notice of the Annual Meeting.

SCHEDULE

Text of Proposed Resolution regarding the re-election of Directors to be considered at the Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders of the Company to be held on Tuesday May 21, 2024.  

Ordinary Resolution 
Be it Resolved:-

1. That in accordance with By-Law No. 1, paragraph 4.3.2, Mr. Peter Clarke and Mr. Jeremy Matouk 
retire from the board and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 
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MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR

REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

The Companies Act, Chap. 81:01 
(Section 144)

1. Name of Company:
GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED        Company No. G 2522(C)

2. Particulars of Meeting:
One Hundred and Eighth Annual Meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday May 21, 2024 at 
2:00PM at the T&T North Room, Radisson Hotel Trinidad, Wrightson Road, Port of Spain. 

3. Solicitation:
It is intended to vote the Proxy solicited hereby (unless the shareholder directs otherwise) in favour 
of all resolutions specified therein.

4. Any Director’s statement submitted pursuant to Section 76 (2) of the Companies Act, Chap. 
81:01:
No statement has been received from any Director pursuant to Section 76 (2) of the Companies 
Act.

5. Any Auditor’s statement submitted pursuant to Section 171 (1) of the Companies Act, Chap. 
81:01:
No statement has been received from the Auditors of the Company pursuant to Section 171 (1) of 
the Companies Act.

6. Any Shareholder’s proposal and/or statement submitted pursuant to Sections 116(a) and 117(2) 
of the Companies Act, Chap. 81:01:
No proposal has been received from any Shareholder pursuant to Sections 116(a) and 117(2) of the 
Companies Act.

April 19, 2024
Candice Changoor
Company Secretary

DATE NAME & TITLE SIGNATURE

FORM OF PROXY

REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO   
          
The Companies Act, Chap. 81:01    
(Section 143(1))       
          
1. Name of Company: GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED     Company No. G 2522(C)

2. Particulars of Meeting:

One Hundred and Eighth Annual Meeting of the Company to be held at the T&T North Room, 
Radisson Hotel Trinidad, Wrightson Road, Port of Spain on Tuesday May 21, 2024 at 2:00PM and at 
any adjournment thereof.

          
3. I/WE ___________________________________________ being a member/members of the above named 

Company having its Registered Office at 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port-of-Spain, do hereby appoint 
Mr. Peter Clarke of Port-of-Spain, or failing him, Mr. Gerhard Pettier of Port-of-Spain or failing him, 
_________________________________________  of _________________________________________, to be my/
our Proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual Meeting of Guardian Media Limited to 
be held on Tuesday May 21, 2024 and at any adjournment thereof.

Dated this ___________________________ day of___________________________ 2024.

NAME OF MEMBER SIGNATURE OF MEMBER

Please indicate with an “X” in the space below how you wish your votes to be cast.

FOR AGAINST
RESOLUTION 1 That the audited Financial Statements of 

the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2023 and the reports of the 
Directors and of the Auditors thereon, 
having been considered, be adopted.

RESOLUTION 2 Directors Peter Clarke and Jeremy Matouk 
who retire, and being eligible in accordance 
with By-Law No 1, paragraph 4.3.2 are 
hereby re-elected.

RESOLUTION 3 That Messrs. Ernst & Young be appointed 
as Auditors of the Company and that the 
Directors be and hereby are authorized 
to fix their remuneration in respect of the 
period ending at the conclusion of the next 
Annual Meeting of the Company.
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FORM OF PROXY
(continued)

Notes:

1. A shareholder may appoint a proxy of his/her own choice.  If such an appointment is made, delete 
the words “Mr. Peter Clarke of Port of Spain, or failing him Mr. Gerhard Pettier of Port of Spain, 
or failing him” from the Form of Proxy above and insert the name and address of the person 
appointed as proxy in the space provided and initial the alteration.

2. To be effective, this Form of Proxy or other authority (if any) must be deposited at the Registered 
Office of the Company, 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port-of-Spain, not later than forty-eight hours 
before the time appointed for holding the Annual Meeting.

3. Any alteration made to this Form of Proxy should be initialed.

4. If the appointor is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must be under its Common Seal, or under the 
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorized in writing.

5. In the case of joint-holders, the signature of any one holder is sufficient, but the names of all joint 
holders should be stated.

GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS 
SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guardian Media Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (“IESBA”) International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion 
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key matter

Estimation uncertainty involved in impairment 
testing of goodwill and other intangibles with 
indefinite lives

Refer to related disclosures in notes 3 and 
6, and accounting policy note 2 (xxii) to 
the consolidated financial statements. As 
described in these notes, impairment tests are 
performed annually on goodwill and certain 
indefinite life licences.

As required by IAS 36: “Impairment of Assets”, 
management performed an impairment test 
on these assets. Based on the impairment test 
performed during the year, no impairment was 
recorded in 2023. 

Impairment tests on goodwill and other 
intangibles involve significant estimation and 
the application of a high level of judgement 
relative to key assumptions such as the 
applicable discount rate and future cash-flows. 

In determining future cash-flow projections, 
management uses assumptions and estimates 
in respect of future market conditions, future 
economic growth, expected market share and 
gross margins. The outcome of the impairment 
testing is sensitive to these assumptions 
and estimates, such that changes in these 
assumptions/estimates may result in different 
impairment test conclusions.

Our audit procedures focused on the 
assessment of the key assumptions utilized 
by management including the cash-flow 
projections and the discount rate. We also 
evaluated whether the value in use impairment 
test model met the requirements of IAS 36. 

To this end our procedures included, 
amongst others, evaluating and testing the 
assumptions, methodologies, Cash Generating 
Unit (CGU) determination, discount rate and 
other key data used by management.  We 
also assessed the assumptions by comparing 
to historical performance of the entity, local 
economic conditions and other alternative 
independent sources of information.  In so 
doing we evaluated the sensitivity of the key 
assumptions to reasonable possible changes 
which could cause the carrying amount of the 
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

We involved our EY valuation specialist to 
assist with our audit of the impairment test 
model, including the cash flows, discount rate 
and long-term growth rates. 

We also assessed the appropriateness of the 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, with reference to that 
prescribed by IFRSs.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report, other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the 
other information. The Group’s 2023 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date 
of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 • Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 • Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 • Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 • Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 • Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

 • Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mrs. 
Adrienne D’Arcy.

Port of Spain,
TRINIDAD:
11 March 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)

31 December

Notes 2023 2022
Assets $ $

Non–current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 62,351 65,696
Investment property 5 1,247 1,383
Intangible assets 6 15,984 16,792
Right-of-use assets 7 6,433 9,978
Employee benefits asset 8 107,128 107,531
Deferred tax asset 9 5,501 2,519
Investment securities 12         4,511          4,401

    203,155      208,300

Current assets
Inventories 10 6,818 9,089
Trade and other receivables 11 27,045 40,963
Taxation recoverable 411 162
Cash and short–term deposits 13       77,824        75,991

   112,098      126,205

TOTAL ASSETS     315,253      334,505

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

31 December

Notes 2023 2022
$ $

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Stated capital 14 27,288 27,288
Treasury shares 14 (1,554) (1,554)
Other reserve 14 113 167
Retained earnings       215,432       228,263

      241,279       254,164

Non–current liabilities
Lease liabilities 7 3,118 6,996
Employee benefits obligation 8 5,451 5,737
Deferred tax liabilities 9         40,459         41,579

        49,028         54,312

Current liabilities
Current portion of lease liabilities 7 4,097 3,773
Trade and other payables 15 20,849 22,255
Taxation payable                   –                   1

        24,946         26,029

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       315,253       334,505

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on the 11 
March 2024, and signed on their behalf by:

__________________________________ : Director                         __________________________________ : Director 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)

Notes 2023 2022
$ $

Revenue 16       99,343     117,788

(Loss)/profit from operating activities 16 (9,876) 4,616

Finance costs 17           (726)           (733)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (10,602) 3,883

Taxation 18         1,984        (1,421)

(Loss)/profit for the year        (8,618)         2,462

Other comprehensive loss:

Other comprehensive loss that may be
reclassified to profit in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operation (54) (101)

Other movements                –               62

Other comprehensive loss that may be
reclassified to profit in subsequent periods             (54)             (39)

Other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified
to profit in subsequent periods:

Re–measurement loss on
defined benefit plans 8 (3,607) (7,421)

Income tax effect 9         1,082         2,226

Other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified
to profit in subsequent periods        (2,525)        (5,195)

Total other comprehensive loss
for the year, net of tax        (2,579)        (5,234)

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax      (11,197)        (2,772)

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share 24        ($0.22)         $0.06
(Expressed in $ per share)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)

Stated 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Other 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity

$ $ $ $ $

Year ended 31 December 2023

Balance at 1 January 2023 27,288 (1,554) 167 228,263 254,164

Loss for the year – – – (8,618) (8,618)
Other comprehensive loss – – (54) (2,525) (2,579)
Dividends (Note 19)              –              –              –      (1,688)      (1,688)

Balance at 31 December 2023     27,288      (1,554)           113   215,432   241,279

Year ended 31 December 2022

Balance at 1 January 2022 27,288 (1,554) 268 233,822 259,824

Profit for the year – – – 2,462 2,462
Other comprehensive loss – – (101) (5,133) (5,234)
Dividends (Note 19)              –              –              –      (2,888)      (2,888)

Balance at 31 December 2022     27,288      (1,554)          167  228,263   254,164

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)

2023 2022
Notes $ $

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit before taxation (10,602) 3,883
Adjustments to reconcile income before taxation to

net cash generated from operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 & 5 9,445 9,889
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets 7 3,849 3,523
Amortisation 6 808 991
Net change in employee benefits asset/obligation (3,490) (3,351)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment securities (110) (70)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (140) 350
Interest and investment income (1,404) (773)
Finance cost 17 726 733
Foreign exchange loss 28 33
Other movements            (76)            (31)

Operating (loss)/income before working capital changes (966) 15,177
Decrease in inventories 2,271 924
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 13,918 (10,215)
Decrease in trade and other payables       (1,406)      (5,064)

Cash generated from operations 13,817 822

Interest received 1,404 92
Interest paid (726) (733)
Taxation paid       (1,293)      (3,777)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities      13,202      (3,596)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

2023 2022
Notes $ $

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of assets 161 –
Purchase of fixed deposits (1,340) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4      (6,288)      (4,534)

Net cash used in investing activities      (7,467)      (4,534)

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (3,554) (3,513)
Dividends paid 19      (1,688)      (2,888)

Net cash used in financing activities      (5,242)      (6,401)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 493 (14,531)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year      17,051      31,582

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13      17,544      17,051

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1. Incorporation and principal activities

Guardian Media Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in 1917 and 
continued on 21 November 1997 under the Companies Act, 1995, in the Republic of Trinidad 
and Tobago. Effective 26 April 2010, the Company changed its name to Guardian Media Limited 
(formerly Trinidad Publishing Company Limited). The Company operates in Trinidad and Tobago and 
is a subsidiary of ANSA McAL Limited (the “Ultimate Parent”), which is a public company that owns 
51% of the issued stated capital of the Company. The registered office of the Company is at 22-24 
St. Vincent Street, Port of Spain. Guardian Media Limited is the parent company of Wonderland 
Entertainment Limited and iRadio Inc. The Company has a primary listing on the Trinidad and Tobago 
Stock Exchange.

Guardian Media Limited and its consolidated Subsidiaries (‘the Group’) consist of the parent 
company, Guardian Media Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries, Wonderland Entertainment 
Limited and iRadio Inc. The Group is the publisher of the Trinidad Guardian and the Sunday Guardian, 
and also provides printing services for other publishers. The Group purchased the operating assets 
and liabilities of Trinidad Broadcasting Company Limited and Prime Radio Limited on 1 May 1998 
and acquired a 100% share of Wonderland Entertainment Limited on 9 August 2011. On the 12 
September 2014, the Group acquired a licence to operate the 99.5 F.M. radio frequency, which was 
approved by the Telecommunications Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (“TATT”). As a condition 
of the concession the Group surrendered the 730 A.M. frequency. On 24 August 2015 the Group 
acquired 100% of the issued share capital of iRadio Inc., a company registered and operating in the 
Republic of Guyana. 

The Group currently operates six (6) broadcasting stations, 95.1 F.M. The Best Mix, the Vibe CT105 
F.M., Sangeet 106.1 F.M., Freedom 106.5 F.M. SLAM 100.5 F.M. and Sky Radio 99.5 F.M. in the 
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and Mix 90.1 in the Republic of Guyana. The Group is also the 
operator of a television station, CNC3, whose inaugural feed began on 26 September 2005. 

Wonderland Entertainment Limited is incorporated and resident in Trinidad and Tobago, and has no 
trading activities in 2023. Its main asset is the radio licence. iRadio Inc. is incorporated and resident 
in the Republic of Guyana and the results of its operations and related assets and liabilities have 
been fully consolidated as explained in Note 2 (ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

2. Material accounting policy information

i) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago 
dollars (except when otherwise indicated) and have been prepared on a historical cost basis 
except for the measurement at fair value of certain financial assets measured at fair value 
through income.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).

Presentation of financial statements
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position if there is a currently enforceable legal right 
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss unless required or permitted by 
any accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting 
policies of the Group.

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:

 • Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating 
cycle;

 • Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
 • Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
 • Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

i) Basis of preparation (continued)

Current versus non-current classification (continued)
A liability is current when:

 • It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
 • It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
 • It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
 • There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

ii) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Guardian Media 
Limited and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

 • Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the investee);

 • Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
 • The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When 
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:

 • The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
 • Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 • The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ii) Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control 
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed 
to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted 
for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 
goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any 
resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised 
at fair value.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

iii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, except for the adoption of new standards 
and interpretations below.

New and amended standards and interpretations

Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8

The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, 
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how entities 
use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements 
provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting 
policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy 
disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their 
‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting 
policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making 
decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting policies, but 
not on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial 
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

iii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – 
Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception, 
so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences such as leases and decommissioning liabilities.

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12 

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in response to the OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two 
rules and include:

 • A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes 
arising from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model rules; and 

 • Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements 
better understand an entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that 
legislation, particularly before its effective date. 

The mandatory temporary exception – the use of which is required to be disclosed applies 
immediately. The remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but not for any interim periods ending on or before 31 
December 2023. 

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

iii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Standards issued but not yet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up 
to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group 
is currently assessing the potential impact of these new standards and interpretations and 
will adopt them when they become effective.

 • Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Effective 
1 January 2024

 • Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – Effective 1 
January 2024

 • Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Effective 1 January 
2024

iv) Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. 

Group as a lessee 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to 
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets.

i) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for 
any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

iv) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

i) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the initial lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made on or before 
the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Land and building 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or 
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using 
the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting 
policies in Note 2 (xxii).

ii) Lease liability

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities 
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The 
lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less 
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or 
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to 
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as 
expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the 
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

iv) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

ii) Lease liability (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease 
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments 
(e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used 
to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to 
purchase the underlying asset.

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months 
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It 
also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office 
equipment that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

Group as a lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising 
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in 
the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

v) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of 
the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects 
if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment 
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual 
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis at rates estimated to write-off the 
assets over their expected useful lives. The estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed 
periodically, taking account of commercial and technological obsolescence as well as 
normal wear and tear, and the depreciation rates are adjusted if appropriate. Land and 
capital work in progress are not depreciated.

Depreciation is provided on the straight line basis at the following rates:-

Freehold buildings 2%
Plant, station equipment and machinery 3.33% – 33%
Office furniture and equipment 10% – 25%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-
recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of asset) is included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

vi) Investment property

Investment properties principally comprise office buildings and land not occupied by the 
Group, which are held for long term rental yields and capital appreciation. Investment 
properties are classified as non-current assets and carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Approximately 24% (2022: 24%) of the Group’s property on 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port of 
Spain is available for long-term rental yields. The Group occupies the remainder of space. 
That apportionment available for rental is classified as Investment Property.

Building is depreciated on a straight-line basis at a rate of 2% per annum. Land is not 
depreciated.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the 
date the recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and 
no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in 
the period of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the 
requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15. 

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. 
If owner occupied property becomes investment property, the Group accounts for such 
property in accordance with the policy under property, plant and equipment up to the date 
of change in use.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

vii) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For 
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and 
assets include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to 
the ability to create outputs.  The acquired process is considered substantive if it is critical 
to the ability to continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised 
workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process or 
it significantly contributes to the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered 
unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability 
to continue producing outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed 
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, 
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes 
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value 
at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured 
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration 
classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 
9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration 
that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

vii) Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in 
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has 
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews 
the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If 
the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in the profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities 
of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included 
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of 
the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative 
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

viii) Financial instruments

Date of recognition
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes 
regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.



GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES74 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 75

GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(Continued)

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

viii) Financial instruments (continued)

Initial measurement of financial instruments
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual 
terms and the business model for managing the instruments, as described below. Financial 
instruments are initially measured at their fair value (as defined in Note 22), except in the case 
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, 
or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price.

The Group classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing 
the assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either amortised cost, FVOCI or 
FVPL, as explained in Note 2 (ix) below.

ix) Financial assets and liabilities

Financial investments at amortised cost
The Group only measures financial investments at amortised cost if both of the following 
conditions are met:

 • The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows

 • The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables.

Debt instruments at FVOCI
The Group applies the categorisation of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of 
the following conditions are met:

 • The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by 
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

 • The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses 
arising due to changes in fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. The Group held no assets categorised as FVOCI as at 31 
December 2023.

Equity instruments at FVOCI
Upon initial recognition, the Group occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of 
its equity investments as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of 
Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such 
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are 
recognised in profit or loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has 
been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of 
part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity 
instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. The Group held no 
assets categorised as Equity instruments at FVOCI as at 31 December 2023.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Investments in equity instruments are classified as fair value through profit or loss unless 
the Group designates an investment that is not held for trading as fair value through OCI on 
initial recognition. The Group has designated the investments in equity instrument that are 
held for trading as fair value through profit or loss on initial application of IFRS 9.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one of the 
following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument 
basis:

 • The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that 
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or 
losses on them on a different basis; or

 • The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities (or financial assets, or both 
under IAS 39), which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value 
basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or

 • The liabilities containing one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not 
significantly modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by the contract, 
or it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar instrument is first considered that 
separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at fair value.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities
The Group does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, 
apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Group acquires, disposes of, or 
terminates a business line. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Group did not 
reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities in 2023.

 • Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial asset have expired. The Group also derecognises the financial asset if it has 
both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The Group has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:
 • The Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial 

asset; or
 • It retains the rights to the cash flows but has assumed an obligation to pay the received 

cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ 
arrangement.

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Group retains the contractual 
rights to receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the ‘original asset’), but assumes a 
contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities (the ‘eventual 
recipients’), when all of the following three conditions are met:

 • The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has 
collected equivalent amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances 
with the right to full recovery of the amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates

 • The Group cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual 
recipients

 • The Group has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients 
without material delay. In addition, the Group is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, 
except for investments in cash or cash equivalents including interest earned, during the 
period between the collection date and the date of required remittance to the eventual 
recipients.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either:

 • The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
 • The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

The Group considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical 
ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that 
ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions on the transfer.

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
and has retained control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the 
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement, in which case, the Group also recognises an 
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration the Group could be required to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the 
transferred asset, the continuing involvement is measured at the value the Group would 
be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case of a written put option on an asset that is 
measured at fair value, the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement is limited to the 
lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying value of 
the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets
Overview of the ECL principles
The Group records the allowance for expected credit losses for all trade receivable and 
other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, in this section all referred to as ‘financial 
instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset 
(the lifetime expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase 
in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ 
expected credit loss (12mECL).

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting 
period, of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life 
of the financial instrument. 

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs 
as they do not contain a significant financing component. The ECL allowance is based on 
credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (LTECL).
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI
The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of 
these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which remains 
at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were 
measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, 
with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in OCI is 
recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

Forward looking information
In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as 
economic inputs, such as:

 • GDP growth
 • Unemployment rates
 • Central Bank rates
 • House price indices

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics 
of the market at the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments 
or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are 
significantly material.

Write-offs
Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Group has 
stopped pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated 
loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then 
applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit 
loss expense.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

x) Employee benefits

The Group operates pension plans with defined contribution, defined benefit or hybrid 
schemes for all eligible full-time employees of the Group. The pension plans are governed 
by the relevant trustee rules and are generally funded by payments from employees and 
by the relevant Group companies, taking account of the rules of the pension plans and 
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits 
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The Group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised 
as employee benefit expense when they are due.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The pension 
accounting costs for the plans are assessed using the projected unit credit method. Re-
measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding net interest (not applicable to the Group) and the return on plan assets (excluding 
net interest), are recognised immediately in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods. The maximum economic benefits available, as limited by the 
asset ceiling will crystallise in the form of reductions in future contributions.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

 • The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
 • The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

x) Employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans (continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability 
or asset. The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation 
within “Administrative costs” (Note 16):

 • Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses 
on curtailments and non-routine settlements; and

 • Net interest expense or income.

Other post-employment benefit plans

The Group also provides other post-employment benefits to their retirees. These benefits 
are unfunded. The entitlement to these benefits is based on the employee remaining in 
service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected 
costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting 
methodology similar to that for the defined benefit plans.

xi) Inventories

Inventory of newsprint, printing materials and machinery spares are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and 
includes relevant import and local charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

xii) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30–90 days terms, are recognised and carried at 
original invoice amounts less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for 
expected credit losses is made depending on the credit risk at the time of initial recognition. 
Trade receivables are considered to be credit-impaired when collection of the full amount is 
no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off as incurred.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xiii) Cash and short-term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position comprise 
cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits readily convertible to cash.

For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include all cash and short-term deposits with maturities of less than three months from date 
of establishment or which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

xiv) Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
(expressed in thousands), which is the Parent’s functional and presentation currency. Each 
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the foreign currency at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into Trinidad and Tobago Dollars at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated using exchange rates that existed when the values were determined. 
Exchange differences on foreign currency transactions are recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss. 

Foreign entities
On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into Trinidad and 
Tobago dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the financial reporting date and their 
Statements of Comprehensive Income are translated at the weighted average exchange 
rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on re-translation are recognized in 
other comprehensive income. On disposal of the foreign operation, the deferred cumulative 
amount recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xv) Equity movements

Stated capital
Ordinary stated capital is classified within equity and is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received by the Group. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares or options are shown as a reduction in equity, net of tax. As equity is repurchased, 
the amount of consideration paid is recognised as a charge to equity and reported in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as treasury shares.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when 
they are approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. Interim dividends are deducted from 
equity when they are paid. Dividends for the year that are approved after the consolidated 
statement of financial position date are dealt with as an event after the end of reporting 
date.

Treasury shares
Own equity instruments which are re-acquired (“treasury shares”) are deducted from equity. 
No gain or loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss on the 
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration is recognised in other reserve. Such 
treasury shares are presented separately within equity and are stated at cost.

xvi) Employee share ownership plan (ESOP)

The Group operates an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) whereby employees of the 
Group have the option to receive a percentage of their profit share bonuses in the form of 
ordinary shares of the Group. The Group recognises an expense within staff costs when 
bonuses are awarded. Shares acquired are funded by the Group contributions and the cost 
of the unallocated ESOP Shares is presented as a deduction in equity, separately disclosed 
as “treasury shares”.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xvii) Trade and other payables

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable, which are normally settled on 30-90 days 
terms, are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future 
for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Group.

xviii) Earnings per share

The computation of earnings per share is calculated as the net income attributable to 
ordinary shareholders (net of preference shares), divided by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, net of treasury shares. The Group has no 
dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue.

xix) Provisions

Provisions are required when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, 
where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Restructuring provisions are recognised only when the Group has a constructive obligation, 
which is when a detailed formal plan identifies the business or part of the business concerned, 
the location and number of employees affected, a detailed estimate of the associated costs, 
and an appropriate timeline, and the employees affected have been notified of the plan’s 
main features.

When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a 
specific matter and considers such outflows to be probable, the Group records a provision 
against the matter. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability of 
losses, the Group takes into account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of 
the matter and historical evidence from similar incidents. Significant judgment is required 
to conclude on these estimates.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xx) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and sale taxes.

The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Sales of newspaper, advertising and job printing
Revenue from the sale of advertising to third parties, including related parties, is recognised 
with the publication or broadcast of the advertisement and the amount of the revenue can 
be measured reliably. Income from newspaper circulation and job printing are recognised 
upon delivery of the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Rental income
Rental income arising under operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues, unless collectability is in doubt.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxi) Taxation

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred income tax
A deferred tax charge is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled based on the enacted tax rate at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxii) Impairment of non–financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready for 
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that 
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash-
generating units). Prior impairments of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) are 
reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by 
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast 
calculations, which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the 
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover 
a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future 
cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for 
properties previously revalued with the revaluation taken to OCI. For such properties, the 
impairment is recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxii) Impairment of non–financial assets (continued)

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer 
exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount 
of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU 
(or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is 
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating 
to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxiii) Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial assets at fair value at each year end. Also, fair 
values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 22. Fair 
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer 
the liability takes place either:

 • In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
 • In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset 

or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non–financial asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxiii) Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

 • Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities

 • Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

 • Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement is unobservable

See Note 22 for further details on the valuation techniques and inputs used to account for 
financial instruments measured at fair value.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on 
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels 
in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxiv) Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the net identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the 
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the CGU level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is 
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value 
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not 
subsequently reversed.

Licences
Separately licences are shown at historical cost. Licences acquired in a business combination 
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Licences have an indefinite useful life 
and impairment tests are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxiv) Intangible assets (continued)

Broadcast rights 
The Group has elected to classify broadcast rights as intangible assets. Control is obtained 
over the intangible asset, and therefore the asset is recognised, at the point at which:

 • The underlying resource is sufficiently developed to be identifiable;
 • The Company has legal, exclusive rights to broadcast;
 • There is a penalty for non-delivery of content;
 • It is probable that the event will occur or the content delivered; and
 • It is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company.

Broadcast rights are recognised at historical cost, net of accumulated amortisation. 
Broadcast rights are amortised over their estimated useful lives in a method that matches the 
amortisation expense with the revenues expected to be generated. The relevant amortisation 
expense is recognised within “Administrative costs” (Note 16) in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Loss.

Computer software
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and 
testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised 
as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

 • It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available 
for use;

 • Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
 • There is an ability to use or sell the software product;
 • It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future 

economic benefits;
 • Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 

use or sell the software product are available; and
 • The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be 

reliably measured.
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

xxiv) Intangible assets (continued)

Computer software (continued)
Directly attributable costs capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not 
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives, which do not exceed seven years.

xxv) Deferred programming

Deferred programming, which represents programming contracted but not yet broadcasted, 
is presented within trade and other receivables and is measured at cost less amortisation. 
The costs of programmes are expensed as they are broadcasted.

xxvi) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.

xxvii) Comparative information

A change in presentation was made to the comparative information of the previous year 
(2022) in these consolidated financial statements to allow consistent presentation with 
the current year.  The change relates to the reclassification from current assets to non-
current assets of $4,511 thousand in relation to investment securities that the Group does 
not intend to dispose of in the foreseeable future. This change is not material to the overall 
consolidated financial statements and had no effect on net assets, loss/(profit) for the year, 
net cashflows or earnings per share of the Group.

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future 
periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements:

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
The Group determines whether goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the ‘value in use’ of the cash 
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value in use amount requires 
management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating units 
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows. Further details are provided in Note 6 and accounting policy Note 2 (xxii).

Property, plant and equipment 
Management exercises judgement in determining whether costs incurred can accrue sufficient 
future economic benefits to the Group to enable the value to be treated as a capital expense. Further 
judgement is used upon annual review of the residual values and useful lives of all capital items to 
determine any necessary adjustments to carrying value.

The accounting policy related to property, plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 2 (v).

Impairment of financial assets
Management makes judgments at each Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date to 
determine whether financial assets are impaired when the carrying value is greater than the 
recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. The recoverable amount is the 
present value of the future cash flows.
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued)

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based 
upon the timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Pension and other post–employment benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits is determined 
using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount 
rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension 
increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant 
uncertainty. Further details are given in Note 8.

Libel
In the course of normal business operation, writs were filed against the Group for libel. Estimates 
included are based on professional advice received and management has established provisions to 
cover contingencies of this nature.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates 
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss 
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type and customer type). The provision matrix is initially based 
on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the 
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the 
historical observed default rates are updated. The Group relies on a limited range of forward-looking 
information such as but not limited to media industry trends and GDP growth. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience 
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in 
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 11.

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued)

Leases

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any 
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group 
applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option 
to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic 
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the 
Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that 
is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to 
terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to 
the leased asset).

The Group did not include the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of $5 million (2022: 
$8.2 million) with shorter non-cancellable period (i.e., up to 3 years). The Group typically exercises 
its option to renew for these leases because there will be a significant negative effect on production 
if a replacement asset is not readily available. The renewal periods for leases of $2.4 million (2022: 
$2.8 million) with longer non-cancellable periods (i.e., 5 years to 10 years) are not included as part of 
the lease term as these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. Furthermore, the periods covered 
by termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain 
not to be exercised.

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

If the Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would 
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR 
therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable 
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when 
they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases 
are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs 
(such as market interest rates) when available.
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Land and 
buildings

Plant, 
machinery, 
equipment 

& motor 
vehicles

Office 
furniture & 
equipment

Capital 
WIP Total

$ $ $ $ $

At 31 December 2023

Cost 37,016 152,846 18,193 – 208,055

Accumulated depreciation    (20,906)  (109,712)    (15,086)                –  (145,704)

Net book value      16,110      43,134        3,107                –      62,351

1 January 2023 16,789 45,730 2,545 632 65,696
Additions – 2,576 1 3,711 6,288
Transfers from WIP – 2,500 1,539 (4,039) –
Disposals and other movements (13) (7) – (304) (324)
Depreciation charge          (666)       (7,665)          (978)                –       (9,309)

31 December 2023      16,110      43,134        3,107                –      62,351

4. Property, plant and equipment

Land and 
buildings

Plant, 
machinery, 
equipment 

& motor 
vehicles

Office 
furniture & 
equipment

Capital 
WIP Total

$ $ $ $ $

At 31 December 2022

Cost 37,031 147,785 16,655 632 202,103

Accumulated depreciation     (20,242)   (102,055)     (14,110)                –   (136,407)

Net book value       16,789       45,730         2,545            632       65,696

1 January 2022 17,524 50,587 2,447 703 71,261
Additions – – 16 4,518 4,534
Transfers from WIP – 3,203 1,061 (4,264) –
Disposals and other movements (13) (7) (5) (325) (350)
Depreciation charge           (722)        (8,053)           (974)                –        (9,749)

31 December 2022       16,789       45,730         2,545            632       65,696

4. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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2023 2022
5. Investment property $ $

Balance at 1 January 1,383 1,523
Depreciation for the year      (136)      (140)

Balance at 31 December     1,247     1,383

Investment property at cost 6,365 6,365
Accumulated depreciation   (5,118)   (4,982)

Net carrying amount     1,247     1,383

Amounts included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the year:

2023 2022

Rental income     1,821     1,850

Direct operating expenses        152        113

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual 
obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties, or for repairs, maintenance and 
enhancements.

The Group has 24% of space available for rental at its property on 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port of 
Spain, which has been classified as an Investment property. There was no change in the allocation 
of space over the prior year.

6. Intangible assets

Licences Goodwill Software Total
$ $ $ $

Cost

At 31 December 2022      11,899        3,374        8,173      23,446

At 31 December 2023      11,899        3,374        8,173      23,446

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2022 – – 5,663 5,663
Amortisation charge for the year               –               –           991           991

At 31 December 2022 – – 6,654 6,654
Amortisation charge for the year               –               –           808           808

At 31 December 2023               –               –        7,462        7,462

Net carrying amount:

At 31 December 2022 11,899 3,374 1,519 16,792

At 31 December 2023 11,899 3,374 711 15,984
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6. Intangible assets (continued)

Licences

Licences include two (2) radio broadcast licences with indefinite useful lives. 

Radio Broadcast Licences
One radio broadcast licence was acquired through a business combination with Wonderland 
Entertainment Limited on 9 August 2011 at a cost of $6.099 million and the other radio broadcast 
licence was acquired on 12 September 2014 at a cost of $5.8 million to operate the 99.5FM broadcast 
frequency. The licences have been granted for a minimum of 10 years by the relevant government 
agency with the option to renew at the end of the period at little or no cost to the Group. Previous 
licences acquired have been renewed which has allowed the Group to determine that these assets 
have indefinite useful lives.

As at 31 December 2023, these assets were tested for impairment and based on the results of the 
tests no impairment was recorded.

Goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Trinidad Broadcasting 
Company Limited and Prime Radio Limited in 1998 was reviewed for impairment at year end. Based 
on the results of this review no impairment expense was recorded.

Impairment testing

The following highlights the information used in the impairment testing of goodwill and licences 
with indefinite useful lives:

Goodwill and licences Basis for 
recoverable 

amount

Discount 
rate

Cash flow 
projection term

Growth rate 
(extrapolation 

period)

Trinidad Broadcasting 
Company Limited Value in use 12.9% Five years and 

into perpetuity 2.2%

Wonderland Entertainment Limited 
(SLAM 100.5FM) Value in use 12.9% Five years and 

into perpetuity 1%

Sky 99.5FM Value in use 12.9% Five years and 
into perpetuity 2.2%

6. Intangible assets (continued)

Impairment testing (continued)

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was determined using the “value in use” 
method. These calculations use pre-tax cash-flow projections based on financial budgets approved 
by management. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect the specific risk relating to the cash-
generating unit.

The carrying amounts of goodwill and licences with indefinite useful lives are allocated to the 
following CGUs, for impairment testing. These CGUs are part of the “Multi-Media” reporting segment 
disclosed in Note 20.

TBC Network SKY 99.5FM SLAM 100.5FM Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Goodwill 3,374 3,374 – – – – 3,374 3,374
Radio broadcast licenses – – 5,800 5,800 6,099 6,099 11,899 11,899

The recoverable amounts used in the impairment testing of the TBC Network, SKY 99.5FM and 
SLAM 100.5 FM CGUs were $34 million, $7.4 million and $26.3 million respectively.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The calculation of value in use for the TBC Network, SKY 99.5FM and SLAM 100.5FM units is most 
sensitive to the following assumptions:

 • Gross margin
 • Discount rates
 • Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period.
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6. Intangible assets (continued)

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions 
(continued)

Gross margin
Estimated revenue, which is a key element of the estimated gross margins, is based on the 
implementation of a new sales strategy in alignment with current market developments. Decreased 
advertising demand can lead to a decline in the revenue generated and, consequently, the gross 
margin, which may impact the value in use calculation of the CGUs and the results of the impairment 
test.

Discount rates
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, taking 
into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have not 
been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific 
circumstances of the Group and its operating divisions and is derived from its weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both cost of debt and cost of equity. Specific 
industry risk is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. Adjustments to the discount rate are 
made to factor in the specific amount and timing of the future tax flows in order to reflect a pre-tax 
discount rate. A rise in the discount rate may impact the value in use calculation of the CGUs and the 
results of the impairment test.

Growth rates
Rates are based on industry research. This rate is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast 
period. For each of the CGUs, a decrease in the long-term growth rate may impact the value in use 
calculation of the CGUs and the results of the impairment test.

Computer software
Intangible assets also include the internal development cost arising from the implementation of 
NEO Content Management System for Media in March 2018 which were recognised at fair value 
at the capitalisation date. Subsequent to initial recognition, computer software is carried at cost 
less amortisation and impairment losses where necessary and is expected to have a finite life not 
exceeding 7 years.

7. Leases

Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land and buildings used in its operations. These 
leases of land and buildings generally have lease terms between three and ten years. 

The Group also has certain leases of office equipment with lease terms of 12 months or less. The 
Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ recognition exemptions for these leases. The Group recognised 
rent expense from short-term leases of $0.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 
$0.1 million).

Right-of-use assets 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during 
the period:

Land and 
building

Motor 
vehicles Total

$ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2023 9,017 961 9,978

Additions – 304 304
Depreciation      (3,546)         (303)      (3,849)

Balance at 31 December 2023       5,471          962       6,433

Balance at 1 January 2022 1,795 510 2,305

Additions 10,417 779 11,196
Depreciation      (3,195)         (328)      (3,523)

Balance at 31 December 2022       9,017          961       9,978
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7. Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:

2023 2022
$ $

As at 1 January 10,769 3,010
Additions 304 11,272
Accretion of interest 361 340
Payments       (4,219)       (3,853)

As at 31 December        7,215      10,769

Current 4,097 3,773
Non-current        3,118        6,996

       7,215      10,769

The Group has no lease contracts that contain variable payments, extensions and termination 
options. The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 25.

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $4.2 million in 2023 ($4.3 million in 2022). 

Group as lessor – Operating lease commitments
The Group is involved in the lease of transmission towers and investment properties. These details 
are disclosed in Note 23.

2023 2022
$ $

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 3,849 3,523
Interest expense on lease liabilities 361 340
Expense relating to short-term leases 140 121
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets              25              50

Total amount recognised in profit or loss         4,375         4,034

8. Employee benefits

The Group operates pension plans with defined contribution, defined benefit or hybrid schemes 
for all eligible full-time employees of the Group. The Group also provides certain post-retirement 
medical benefits to employees. These Plans are governed by the deeds and rules of the specific plan 
and the employment laws relevant to the jurisdictions in which they operate.

Contributions recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss with respect to 
defined contribution plans are as follows:

2023 2022
$ $

Contribution expense           786            796

2023 2022
$ $

Employee benefits asset    107,128     107,531

Employee benefits obligation        5,451         5,737

The level of pension benefits provided under the defined benefit plans depends on the member’s 
length of service and salary at retirement age. The defined benefit pension plan requires contributions 
to be made to a separately administered fund. The Fund has a separate legal form and is governed 
by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees is responsible for the administration of the plan 
assets and for the definition of the investment strategy.

The Board of Trustees periodically reviews the level of funding in the pension plan. Such a review 
includes the asset-liability matching strategy and investment risk management policy which 
considers the term of the pension obligation while simultaneously remaining compliant with the 
requirements of the Pension Act. The pension plans are exposed to inflation, interest rate risks and 
changes in the life expectancy for pensioners in the relevant jurisdictions. As the Plan assets include 
significant investments in quoted equity shares, the Group is also exposed to equity market risk.
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8. Employee benefits (continued)

2023 changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets:

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

Fair value
 of plan 
assets

Net 
benefit 

asset

Employee 
benefit 

obligation
$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2023    133,854   (241,385)    (107,531)       5,737

Pension cost charged 
to profit or loss

Current service cost 2,723 – 2,723 195
Administrative expenses – 225 225 –
Net interest        6,483     (11,820)        (5,337)          281

Sub-total included in
profit or loss        9,206     (11,595)        (2,389)          476

Re–measurement (gains)/losses
in OCI

Experience adjustments (12,241) 16,173 3,932 (325)
Transfers       (2,957)         2,957                 –              –

Sub-total included in OCI     (15,198)       19,130          3,932         (325)

Other movements
Contributions by employee 1,140 (1,140) – –
Contributions by employer – (1,140) (1,140) –

Benefits paid       (6,322)         6,322                 –         (437)

Sub-total – other movements       (5,182)         4,042        (1,140)         (437)

Balance at 31 December 2023    122,680   (229,808)    (107,128)       5,451

8. Employee benefits (continued)

2022 changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets:

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

Fair value
 of plan 
assets

Net 
benefit 

asset

Employee 
benefit 

obligation
$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2022 128,893 (240,520) (111,627)       5,763

Pension cost charged 
to profit or loss

Current service cost 3,035 – 3,035 243
Administrative expenses – 235 235 –
Net interest         6,542      (12,078)         (5,536)          284

Sub-total included in
profit or loss         9,577      (11,843)         (2,266)          527

Re–measurement (gains)/losses
in OCI

Experience adjustments (2,890) 10,468 7,578 (154)
Transfers          2,600         (2,600)                 –             (3)

Sub-total included in OCI           (290)          7,868          7,578      (157)

Other movements
Contributions by employee 1,216 (1,216) – –
Contributions by employer – (1,216) (1,216) –

Benefits paid        (5,542)          5,542                 –        (396)

Sub-total – other movements        (4,326)          3,110         (1,216)     (   396)

Balance at 31 December 2022     133,854    (241,385)    (107,531)       5,737
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8. Employee benefits (continued)

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as 
follows:

2023 2022

Local equities – quoted 32% 36%
Local bonds 32% 31%
Foreign investments 29% 23%
Real estate and mortgages 2% 2%
Short term securities 5% 8%

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

2023 2022

Discount rate at 31 December 6% 5%
Future salary increases 4% 3%
Future medical claims inflation 3% 3%

Shown below is a quantitative sensitivity analysis for the impact of significant assumptions on the 
defined benefit obligation:

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the 
impact on net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions 
occurring at the end of the reporting period.

Assumptions Discount rate
Future salary 

increases
Future medical 
claims inflation

Sensitivity level
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease
1% 

increase
1% 

decrease

At 31 December 2023 (11,999) 14,800 3,599 (3,206) 539 (443)

At 31 December 2022 (14,266) 17,744 4,237 (3,768) 628 (509)

8. Employee benefits (continued)

The pension plan is maintained at a significant surplus; the Group has chosen not to take any 
contribution holidays to ensure the continued health of the Plan in changing economic circumstances. 
The Group’s contribution rate of 4% of pensionable salaries will continue into the foreseeable future. 
The Group is expected to contribute $1.1 million to its defined benefit plans and $0.5 million to its 
post-employment benefit plans in 2024.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 
is 20 years (2022: 15 years) for the defined benefit plan and 11 years (2022: 14 years) for the post-
retirement medical plan.

9. Deferred taxation

2022

(Credit)/ 
charge to 

income

(Credit)/ 
charge to 

OCI

Foreign 
exchange 

difference 2023

Deferred tax asset
Employee benefits obligation (1,719) (12) 98 – (1,633)
Leases (101) (46) – – (147)
Provisions (181) 134 – – (47)
Tax loss         (518)    (3,156)            –             –      (3,674)

     (2,519)    (3,080)          98             –      (5,501)

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment/
Investment property 1,721 (324) – – 1,397

Intangible assets 668 – – – 668
Print equipment 6,933 (675) – – 6,258
Employee benefits asset      32,257      1,059    (1,180)             –      32,136

     41,579           60    (1,180)             –      40,459

Net deferred tax credit    (3,020)    (1,082)             –
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9. Deferred taxation (continued)

The Group has unutilised tax losses of $12.2 million (2022: $1.7 million) available to be carried 
forward and applied against future taxable income of the Group.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of $3.7 million (2022: $0.5 million) on the cumulative 
taxation losses incurred. The recoverability of these deferred tax assets depends on the Group’s 
ability to generate future taxable profits. The Group believes that these deferred tax assets are 
recoverable because these losses are expected to shelter taxable profits in the foreseeable future.

2021

(Credit)/ 
charge to 

income

(Credit)/ 
charge to 

OCI

Foreign 
exchange 

difference 2022

Deferred tax asset
Employee benefits obligation (1,727) (39) 47 – (1,719)
Leases (55) (46) – – (101)
Provisions (89) (92) – – (181)
Tax loss         (567)              49              –             –          (518)

     (2,438)          (128)            47             –       (2,519)

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment/
Investment property 2,435 (714) – – 1,721

Intangible assets 668 – – – 668
Print equipment 7,637 (704) – – 6,933
Employee benefits asset     33,487        1,043     (2,273)             –      32,257

    44,227          (375)     (2,273)             –      41,579

Net deferred tax credit          (503)     (2,226)             –

10. Inventories 2023 2022
$ $

Raw materials 4,010 7,131
Machinery spares 3,136 2,864
Goods in transit        1,912          910

9,058 10,905

Less: provision for obsolescence       (2,240)      (1,816)

       6,818       9,089

During the year, $142 thousand of inventory previously deemed obsolete, was consumed. This 
amount (2022: $397 thousand), is included in Administrative costs.

2023 2022
11. Trade and other receivables $ $

Trade receivables 28,580 42,058
Less: Provision for doubtful debts     (6,578)      (6,885)

   22,002     35,173

Other receivables 4,326 5,024
Less: Provision for doubtful debts        (765)         (765)

     3,561       4,259

Amount due from Related parties companies (Note 21)      1,482       1,531

   27,045     40,963
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11. Trade and other receivables (continued)

As at 31 December the aging analysis of trade debtors is as follows:

Past due but not impaired

Total Current 30–90 days > 90 days

2023 22,002 8,039 8,840 5,123

2022 35,173 17,991 12,131 5,051

As at 31 December 2023, trade and other receivables at nominal value of $7.3 million (2022: $7.7 
million) were impaired and fully provided. 

Movements in ECL allowance are as follows:

2023 2022
$ $

ECL per IFRS 9 at 1 January 7,650 6,148
Provision for expected credit losses        (307)       1,502

Balance at 31 December      7,343       7,650

2023 2023 2022 2022
Market 

value Cost
Market 

value Cost
$ $ $ $

Investments at fair value
through profit and loss

Quoted shares   4,511   658   4,401   658

12. Investment securities

The fair value of quoted ordinary shares is determined by reference to published price quotations in 
an active trading market.

2023 2022
13. Cash and short–term deposits $ $

Cash at bank and on hand 17,530 17,037
Money market fund            14             14

17,544 17,051

Fixed deposits    60,280     58,940

   77,824     75,991

Money market fund

This represents a holding in the Unit Trust Corporation TT dollar Income Fund. The Fund earns 
interest at a rate of <1.19% per annum at year-end (2022: <1.15%).

Fixed deposits

An amount of $60.3 million (2022: $58.9 million) was held in TT dollar denominated fixed deposits 
with maturities of 1- 5.5 years of which $28 million has a fixed interest rate of 3.00% for 1 year, $12.3 
million has a fixed interest rate of 3.00% per annum for 3 years and $20 million has a fixed interest 
rate of 4.50% per annum for 5.5 years. The fixed deposits were invested with fellow subsidiaries 
(ANSA Merchant Bank Limited and ANSA Bank Limited) in the ANSA McAL Group of Companies.
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13. Cash and short–term deposits (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
the following at 31 December:

2023 2022
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 17,530 17,037
Money market fund            14            14

Cash and cash equivalents    17,544     17,051

14. Stated capital, treasury shares and other reserve

a) Issued and fully paid

29,297 6% cumulative participating preference shares 1,465 1,465
40,000,000 ordinary shares of no-par value     25,823     25,823

    27,288     27,288

The Company is authorised to issue an unlimited number of ordinary shares of no-par value.

b) Treasury shares

As detailed in Note 2 (xvi), the Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) in 
which shares purchased by the Plan are held in Trust. The cost of these unallocated ESOP 
shares is accounted for and disclosed within equity as treasury shares. The number and 
value of own equity shares (treasury shares) held by the Group are as follows:

2023 2022

Number of shares (000’s)          100          100

Carrying value of shares ($’000s)       1,554       1,554

The market value of treasury shares ($’000s)          220          294

14. Stated capital, treasury shares and other reserve (continued)

2023 2022
c) Other reserve $ $

Foreign currency reserve
Balance as at 1 January 167 268
Currency translation            (54)          (101)

Balance as at 31 December           113           167

The foreign currency reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of iRadio Inc. into Trinidad and Tobago dollars.

2023 2022
15. Trade and other payables $ $

Trade creditors 2,794 3,460
Other creditors and accruals 16,904 14,557
VAT payable 922 1,574
Amounts due to group companies (Note 21)           229        2,664

     20,849      22,255

In the normal course of business operations, writs were filed against the Group for libel, some of 
which remained outstanding at the year-end. Based on professional advice received, management 
has established provisions of $0.65 million (2022: $0.54 million) to cover potential liabilities of this 
nature.
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2023 2022
16. Revenue and income from operating activities $ $

Advertising income 87,359 104,127
Circulation income 11,249 12,966
Printing and other income             735             695

Total revenue 99,343 117,788
Cost of sales       (51,626)       (59,868)

Gross profit 47,717 57,920
Administrative costs (45,227) (41,211)
Distribution costs (17,760) (16,422)
Other income (see below)          5,394          4,329

(Loss)/profit from operating activities         (9,876)          4,616

Components of other income:

Rental income 2,721 2,730
Interest and investment income 1,404 773
Loss on foreign exchange (28) (33)
Other income 1,023 669
Dividend income 164 120
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment securities             110               70

         5,394          4,329

Administrative and distribution costs included above:

Salaries and wages 23,070 25,959
Depreciation and amortisation (excl. right-of-use-assets) 3,220 3,493
Depreciation on right-to-use-assets 3,546 3,195
Directors’ fees 1,170 1,055

Depreciation expense charged to cost of sales for the year amounted to $7.3 million (2022: $7.4 
million).

Staff cost included in cost of sales amount to $28.65 million (2022: $25.3 million).

2023 2022
17. Finance costs $ $

Interest on lease liabilities 352 340
Other interest and finance costs            374           393

           726           733

18. Taxation

a) Taxation credit – Prior year – (306)
Other levies 976 385
Corporation tax 60 1,845
Deferred taxation (Note 9)        (3,020)          (503)

       (1,984)        1,421

b) Reconciliation of tax expense and product of
accounting profit multiplied by the applicable
tax rate:

(Loss)/profit before taxation     (10,602)        3,883

Income taxes calculated at statutory rates (3,197) 1,160
Tax exempt income (51) (241)
Prior year over accrual – (306)
Non-allowable expenses and other deductions 68 92
Other levies 976 385
Other permanent differences            220           331

      (1,984)        1,421

— final 2022 – 3% (2021: 3%) 44 44
— interim 2023 – 3% (2022: 3%)              44             44

88 88

Final ordinary shares dividend for 2022: 4¢ – paid (2021: 7¢)         1,600        2,800

        1,688        2,888

19. Dividends

6% cumulative participating preference shares
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19. Dividends (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, dividends of 6% on preference shares (amounting to $88 
thousand) were declared and paid. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 2022 final dividend 
of 4 cents per ordinary share (amounting to $1,600 thousand) was declared and paid. 

No final dividend per ordinary share in respect of 2023 (2022: 4 cents) has been proposed by the 
Directors subsequent to the year end.

20. Segment information

For management purposes, the Group’s segments are organised and managed separately according 
to the nature of these services provided by each segment. The reportable segments are the Print and 
Multi-Media segments.

The Print segment is mainly involved in newspaper circulation and other printing services for other 
publishers. The Multi-Media segment provides broadcasting services through its seven (7) radio 
stations as well as the live television station.

Print 
segment

Multi– 
media segment Total Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 44,632 50,852 54,711 66,936 99,343 117,788

(Loss)/profit
before taxation (8,284) 117 (2,318) 3,766 (10,602) 3,883

Assets 156,620 167,053 158,633 167,452 315,253 334,505

Liabilities 33,313 36,153 40,661 44,188 73,974 80,341
Depreciation and
amortisation 10,309 10,133 3,793 4,270 14,102 14,403

Capital expenditure 2,451 2,178 3,837 3,067 6,288 5,245

No revenue from a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s 
total revenue in 2023 or 2022.

21. Related party disclosures

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Guardian Media Limited 
and the 100% owned subsidiaries, Wonderland Entertainment Limited and iRadio Inc.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. A number of transactions are 
entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions were carried 
out at commercial terms and at market rates. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured, 
interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for 
any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has not 
made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2022: Nil).

2023 2022
$ $

Income generated from related parties
Ultimate parent 275 792
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent        5,105         5,466

       5,380         6,258

Purchases from related parties
Ultimate parent 9,360 3,689
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent 19,435 21,092
Other related parties        4,991         4,126

     33,786       28,907

Amounts due from related parties
Ultimate parent 10 50
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent        1,472         1,481

       1,482         1,531
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2023 2022
21. Related party disclosures (continued) $ $

Amounts owed to related parties
Ultimate parent – trading 18 136
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent – trading          211        2,528

229 2,664
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent – lease liabilities       1,256           317

      1,485        2,981

Investments at fair value through statement of income

Included therein is a holding of less than 1% of the issued share capital of a fellow subsidiary of the 
ultimate parent. This investment has a carrying value of $4.5 million at 31 December 2023 (2022: 
$4.4 million). (Refer to Note 12).

Cash and short-term deposits

Included therein are fixed deposits with a fellow subsidiary of the ultimate parent amounting to 
$60.3 million at 31 December 2023 (2022: $58.94 million) (Refer to Note 13).

2023 2022
Compensation of key management personnel $ $

Short–term employee benefits       1,481        1,711

Contributions to defined contribution plans            42             42

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

22. Fair values and fair value hierarchies

The carrying amount of short–term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term investments at amortised cost, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are a reasonable estimate of their fair values because of the short maturity of 
these instruments. For all other financial assets and liabilities, the carrying value is considered a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. 

The fair value information is based on information available to management as at the dates 
presented. Although management is not aware of any factors that will significantly affect the fair 
value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for the purposes of these 
consolidated financial statements and, therefore the current estimates of the fair value may be 
significantly different from the amounts presented herein. 

Investment securities classified as fair value through statement of income is a Level 1 financial 
asset. Included in the Level 1 category are financial assets that are measured in whole by reference 
to published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active 
market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

23. Capital commitments and contingencies

Contingencies – Legal action

The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has an element of litigation 
risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation proceedings arising in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

As disclosed in Note 15 there were a number of writs served against the Company for libel for which 
provisions have been established and recorded in respect of these matters which were considered 
probable liabilities. There are also certain other pending legal actions and other claims in which the 
Group is involved where the directors are of the opinion that, based on information provided by the 
Group’s attorneys-at-law, if any liability should arise out of these claims it is not likely to be probable. 
Accordingly, no provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements in respect of 
these matters.
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23. Capital commitments and contingencies (continued)

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor

The Group is involved in leases on transmission towers and investment properties. Future minimum 
rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are, as follows:

2023 2022
$  $

Within one year 1,025 1,025
Within 2 to 5 years        4,102        4,102

       5,127        5,127

24. Earnings per share

As described in Note 2 (xviii), basic earnings per share is computed by relating net income 
attributable to ordinary shareholder (net of preference shares) to the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of shares has been adjusted for 
the removal of treasury shares. Basic earnings per share has been computed as follows:

2023 2022
$ $

Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (8,618) 2,462
Less preference share dividend           (88)            (88)

(Loss)/profit available to ordinary shareholders      (8,706)       2,374

Weighted average number of shares (’000)
(adjusted for treasury shares) 39,900 39,900

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (22) cents 6 cents

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue.

25. Risk management

Introduction

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk 
management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is 
accountable for the risk exposures relating to their responsibilities. The Group is exposed to credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risks.

Risk management structure

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving 
risk strategies, principles and policies and procedures. Day to day adherence to risk principles is 
carried out by the executive management of the Group in compliance with the policies approved by 
the Board of Directors.

Concentrations of risk

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, 
or activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political 
or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s results to 
developments affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the 
Group’s procedures include specific monitoring controls to focus on the maintenance of a diversified 
portfolio.
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25. Risk management (continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Such exposure arises from sale or purchases by an operating unit in currencies 
other than the unit’s functional currency. Management monitors its exposure to foreign currency 
fluctuations which is mainly the US currency and employs appropriate strategies to mitigate any 
potential losses.

The sensitivity to a possible change in the US dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax is as follows:

Change in US 
dollar rates

Effect on profit 
before tax 

$’000

2023 5% increase (63)
5% decrease 63

2022 5% increase (123)
5% decrease 123

The aggregate value of financial assets and liabilities by reporting currency are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023 TT US Total
$ $ $

ASSETS
Cash and short term–deposits 76,026 1,798 77,824
Investment securities 4,511 – 4,511
Trade and other receivables         27,045               –       27,045

      107,582        1,798     109,380

LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 7,215 – 7,215
Trade and other payables         20,304           545       20,849

        27,519           545       28,064

Net currency risk exposure        1,253

Year ended 31 December 2022 TT US Total
$ $ $

ASSETS
Cash and short term–deposits 74,905 1,086 75,991
Investment securities 4,401 – 4,401
Trade and other receivables       40,963               –         40,963

    120,269       1,086       121,355

LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 10,769 – 10,769
Trade and other payables       18,711        3,544         22,255

      29,480        3,544         33,024

Net currency risk exposure       (2,458)

25. Risk management (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Credit risk

The Group considers its credit risk with trade debtors to be limited due to the large number of 
customers comprising the Group’s customer base. The Group grants credit based on evaluations 
of its customers’ financial situation, and continually monitors the exposure of potential losses 
from granting credit. The maximum exposure is equal to the carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets which primarily comprises of cash and 
cash equivalents, the exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party. These deposits 
are placed with highly rated local financial institutions.
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25. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s credit risk exposure is geographically concentrated in Trinidad and Tobago. The Group’s 
credit risk exposure by industry sector of its counterparties is as follows:

Gross maximum exposure

2023 2022
$ $

Trade and other receivables (Gross) 34,388 48,613
Cash and short–term deposits         77,824         75,991

Total credit risk exposure       112,212      124,604

Government and Government agencies 4,317 4,230
Financial services sector 77,824 75,991
Marketing sector 9,162 19,048
Other         20,909         25,335

      112,212       124,604

Credit quality per category of financial asset

The credit quality of the balances due from the Group’s various counterparties are internally 
determined from an assessment of each counterparty based on a combination of factors.

25. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality per category of financial asset (continued)

These factors include financial strength and the ability of the counterparty to service its debts, the 
stability of the industry or market in which it operates and its proven track record with the Group. The 
categories defined are as follows:

Superior: This category includes balances due from Government and Government 
agencies and balances due from institutions that have been accorded the 
highest rating by an international rating agency or is considered to have the 
highest credit rating. These balances are considered risk free.

Desirable: These are balances due from counterparties that are considered to have 
good financial strength and reputation.

Acceptable: These are balances due from counterparties that are considered to have 
fair financial strength and reputation.

Sub–standard: Balances that are impaired.

The table below illustrates the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets as at 31 December:

Superior Desirable Acceptable
Sub-

standard Total

$ $ $ $ $

2023 5,799 77,824 21,247 7,342 112,212

2022 5,762 75,991 35,201 7,650 124,604
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25. Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligation under normal 
and stress circumstances. The Group monitors its liquidity risk by considering the maturity of both 
its financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from operations. Where 
possible the Group utilises surplus internal funds to a large extent to finance its operations and 
ongoing projects. However, the Group also utilises available credit facilities such as loans and other 
financing options where required.

The table summarises the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December based on 
undiscounted repayment obligations over the remaining life of those liabilities:

On 
demand

Within 
one

year
1 to 5 
years

>5
years Total

31 December 2023 $ $ $ $ $

Lease liabilities – 4,212 3,282 – 7,494
Trade and
other payables           –      20,849             –            –      20,849

          –      25,061      3,282            –      28,343

31 December 2022

Lease liabilities – 3,903 7,183 – 11,086
Trade and
other payables           –      22,255             –            –      22,255

          –      26,158      7,183            –      33,341

26. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder 
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the 
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2023 or 31 December 2022.
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